### PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF MOBILE WIRELESS SENSOR NETWORKS UNDER UNCONTROLLED MOBILITY

BY

1

AHMED SAEED BINSAHAQ

A Thesis Presented to the DEANSHIP OF GRADUATE STUDIES

KING FAHD UNIVERSITY OF PETROLEUM & MINERALS

DHAHRAN, SAUDI ARABIA

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

### **MASTER OF SCIENCE**

In

**COMPUTER NETWORKS** 

APRIL 30, 2015

术[术]术]

#### KING FAHD UNIVERSITY OF PETROLEUM & MINERALS DHAHRAN 31261, SAUDI ARABIA

#### DEANSHIP OF GRADUATE STUDIES

This thesis, written by AHMED SAEED BINSAHAQ under the direction of his thesis adviser and approved by his thesis committee, has been presented to and accepted by the Dean of Graduate Studies, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE IN COMPUTER NETWORKS.

Thesis Committee

Dr. Hosam Rowihy (Adviser)

Dr. Tarek Sheltami (Member)

Dr. Ashraf Al-Fagih (Member)

Dr. Ahmed Al-Mulhem Department Chairman

Dr. Salam A. Zummo

RE

OFGRADUA

Dean of Graduate Studies

2615115 Date

O AHMED BINSAHAQ 2015

To my family

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I am grateful to Allah, the Most Merciful and the Most Gracious, for his guidance and blessings without which this thesis would not have been possible. My greatest appreciation to my thesis advisor, Dr. Hosam Rowaihy for his guidance, patience, and valuable help to complete this thesis work. A special thanks to my committee members for their support and valuable criticism. I would like to express my great thanks and appreciation to Hadhramout Establishment for Human Development for their support during my study.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIS	T OF TABLES	vii
LIS	T OF FIGURES	viii
AB	STRACT (ENGLISH)	xi
AB	STRACT (ARABIC)	xiii
CHAP	TER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Mobility in Wireless Sensor Networks	2
1.2	Uncontrolled Mobility in Wireless Sensor Networks	4
1.3	Research Motivation	5
1.4	Thesis Objectives	7
1.5	Thesis Contributions	7
1.6	Thesis Organization	8
CHAP	TER 2 MOBILE SENSING SYSTEMS	10
2.1	Participatory Sensing	10
2.2	Mobile Sensing	14
CHAP	TER 3 SYSTEM MODEL	18
3.1	Network Model	18
3.2	Sensor Node	22
3.3	Mobility Models	23
3.4	Other Assumptions	24

CHAP	TER 4	4 SENSING AND DATA DELIVERY SCHEMES	<b>25</b>	
4.1	Sensin	g Schemes	25	
	4.1.1	Threshold-Based	26	
	4.1.2	Energy-Aware	26	
4.2	Data 1	Delivery Schemes	27	
	4.2.1	GPRS	28	
	4.2.2	Wi-Fi	29	
	4.2.3	Hybrid (GPRS and Wi-Fi)	30	
	4.2.4	Ad-Hoc	31	
CHAP	TER 5	5 EVALUATION OF SENSING AND DATA DELIV-	-	
ER	Y SCH	IEMES IN MWSNS	37	
5.1	Simula	ation Setup	38	
5.2	Result	s and Discussion	41	
	5.2.1	Utility vs Node Density	41	
	5.2.2	Utility vs Mobility	42	
	5.2.3	Utility vs Data Delivery	43	
	5.2.4	Energy Consumption vs Data Delivery	47	
	5.2.5	Threshold-Based vs Energy-Aware Sensing	50	
	5.2.6	Discussion	61	
CHAP	TER	6 EVALUATION OF GPSR AND AOMDV ROUT-	-	
INC	G PRO	TOCOLS FOR MWSNS	63	
6.1	Simula	ation Setup	63	
6.2	Results and Discussion			
	6.2.1	Packet Delivery Ratio	64	
	6.2.2	Mission's Received Utility	70	
	6.2.3	Routing Overhead	72	
	6.2.4	Hop Count	73	
	6.2.5	Energy Consumption	73	
	6.2.6	Discussion	76	

CHAP	TER 7 CONCLUSION	78
7.1	Summary	78
7.2	Future Work	79
RE	FERENCES	81
VIT	CAE	90

## LIST OF TABLES

2.1	Comparison of mobile sensing systems	17
3.1	Sensor node characteristics in behave of Waspmote sensor platform	22
5.1	Simulation parameters	38

## LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	A mobile sensor network formed between military units	5
2.1	CommonSense monitoring handheld devices [1]	12
2.2	Sensor board on tram and city CO pollution map from OpenSense	
	system [2]	13
2.3	Real-time vehicular mobile sensing box and heat map of Carbon	
	Monoxide concentration [3] $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	15
3.1	Network model. 100 Mobile sensors, 10 missions and one base-	
	station.	19
3.2	WaspMote sensor node [4]	23
4.1	The GPRS protocol stack [5]	28
4.2	Direct Wi-Fi communication [6]	29
4.3	Hybrid approach. GPRS and Wi-Fi communication coverage	30
4.4	The GPSR routing protocol. [7]	34
4.5	The AOMDV route discovery	35
5.1	Expected utility contribution $(e_{ij})$ according to the distance $(D_{ij})$	
	between sensor $S_i$ and mission $M_j$	39
5.2	Average Mission 's Utility vs Node Density. RWP mobility model	
	with 30 Missions and GPRS connection	40
5.3	Average Mission Utility vs Mobility Model for 200 nodes with 30	
	Missions and GPRS data connection	42

5.4	Average Mission Utility vs Data Delivery with 30 missions and 200 $$	
	nodes. RWP model	44
5.5	Average Node Energy Consumption vs Data Delivery. with 10	
	Missions and 200 nodes, RWP model	47
5.6	Average Node Energy Consumption vs Data Delivery. with 20	
	Missions and 200 nodes, RWP model	48
5.7	Average Node Energy Consumption vs Data Delivery. with 30	
	Missions and 200 nodes, RWP model	48
5.8	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace	
	for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, GPRS connection	51
5.9	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mis-	
	sion's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, GPRS connection	52
5.10	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace	
	for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, 9 Base-stations	54
5.11	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mis-	
	sion's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, 9 Base-stations. $\ .$ .	55
5.12	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace	
	for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, Hybrid (Wi-Fi and GPRS connection) $$	56
5.13	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mis-	
	sion's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, Hybrid (Wi-Fi and	
	GPRS connection).	57
5.14	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace	
	for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, GPSR routing protocol $\ . \ . \ .$ .	58
5.15	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mis-	
	sion's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, GPSR routing pro-	
	tocol	59
5.16	Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace	
	for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, AOMDV routing protocol	60

5.17	.17 Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mis-				
	sion's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, AOMDV routing				
	protocol	61			
6.1	Packet Delivery Ratio	65			
6.2	Packet Loss Ratio, base-station is positioned at the corner of the				
	field	67			
6.3	Packet Loss Ratio, base-station is positioned at the center of the				
	field	68			
6.4	Average Mission's Utility, 30 missions.	69			
6.5	Routing protocol overhead. All routing packets sent network wide.	71			
6.6	Average hop count traversed by packet before it reaches destination.	74			
6.7	Average node energy consumption during whole network life time.	75			

## THESIS ABSTRACT

NAME: AHMED SAEED BINSAHAQ
 TITLE OF STUDY: Performance Evaluation Of Mobile Wireless Sensor Networks Under Uncontrolled Mobility
 MAJOR FIELD: COMPUTER NETWORKS
 DATE OF DEGREE: April 30, 2015

Wireless sensor networks (WSNs) consist of low powered devices that have a computation, wireless communication and environment sensing capability. These low cost sensors usually are deployed in a densely and stationary manner for periodic sensing of an environment phenomenon. These capabilities of WSNs open the door for many applications in military, health, industry and environment monitoring fields. Mobile Wireless Sensor Networks (MWSNs) is a subclass of WSNs in which some or all sensors are mobile. Many environmental monitoring systems are designed and deployed on top of MWSNs in which sensor hosts are uncontrolled (e.g. OpenSense system for Zurich city air pollution monitoring). In this thesis we evaluate the performance of mobile wireless sensor networks in which all sensors are mobile and uncontrolled. We consider two simple sensing schemes, threshold-based and energy-aware. We also consider four different data delivery mechanisms mobile sensors can use for data delivery to the base-station; namely GPRS (General Packet Radio Service), Wi-Fi, Hybrid (GPRS and Wi-Fi), and Ad-Hoc in which two routing protocols, GPSR (Greedy Perimeter Stateless Routing) and AOMDV (Ad hoc On-demand Multipath Distance Vector routing), are used. We test the network performance through an extensive simulation based experiments using ns2 simulator. We find that MWSN performance is affected by the data delivery mechanism been used. Wi-Fi performance depends on available base-station(s) coverage. GPRS and Hybrid approach performs similarly and outperform other data delivery mechanisms. We also find that the addition of Wi-Fi in the Hybrid approach improved energy consumption. Both AOMDV and GPSR perform badly in low network density. GPSR, however, outperforms AOMDV in medium and high density MWSNs due to its advantage of using geographic information for packet routing which cuts the need for the expensive route discovery process used by AOMDV. The energy-aware scheme helps in extending network lifetime with a little degradation in system performance because sensors become more conservative when their energy starts to deplete.

### ملخص الرسالة

الاسم الكامل: أحمد سعيد بن سحاق

عنوان الرسالة: تقييم أداء شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة تحت التنقل غير المنضبط

التخصص: شبكات الحاسب الالى

تاريخ الدرجة العلمية: ٣٠ أبريل ٢٠١٥

تتكون شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية من أجهزة تعمل بطاقة منخفضة ولديها قدرات حسابية والقدرة على الاتصال اللاسلكي و إستشعار البيئة المحيطة. هذه الاجهزة اذات السعر المنخفض عادة ما تكون ثابتة ومنتشرة بكثافة للأستشعار الدوري للبيئة المحيطة. هذه الشبكات فتحت المجال للعديد من التطبيقات في المجالات العسكرية, الصحية و مراقبة البيئة. تعتبر شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة صنف من شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية بحيث أن بعض أو كل أجهزة الأشتشعار تتحرك. العديد من أنظمة مراقبة البيئة صممت وبنيت بناء على شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة بحيث أن المضيف لجهاز الأستشعار يتحرك بشكل غير منضبط (على سبيل المثال. نظام OpenSense لمراقبة مدى تلوث الجو في مدينة زيورخ السويدية). في هذه الاطروحة نقيم أداء شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة بحيث أن أجهزة الأستشعار تتحرك بشكل غير منضبط. في هذه الأطروحة أجهزة الأستشعار تتستخدم طريقتين للأستشعار هما: threshold-based و energy-aware. أيضا أجهزة الأستشعار تستخدم أربع طرق لأرسال البيانات هم: GPRS) ,Wi-Fi , (General Packet Radio Service) GPRS) مع GPRS) ,Wi-Fi , Ad-Hoc ,Hybrid . أثناء أستخدام طريقة Ad-Hoc أستخدم بروتوكولين مختلفين لتوجيه حزم البيانات داخل شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة هما: Greedy Perimeter Stateless Routing) GPSR) و AOMDV . في هذه الأطروحة (Ad-hoc On-demand Multipath Distance Vector routing). في هذه الأطروحة أجرينا تجارب مكثفة بإستخدام محاكى الشبكات ns2 لتقييم أداء شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة. بناء على تلك التجارب وجدنا أن أداء شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة يتأثر بطريقة إرسال البيانات المستخدمة. أداء طريقة Wi-Fi يعتمد على مدى توفر محطات الاتصال وأستخدامها مع طريقة Hybrid حسن من أستهلاك الطاقة. البروتوكولات المستخدمة مع طريقة Ad-Hoc وهما GPSR و AOMDV يؤديان بشكل سئ عندما تكون شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة قليلة الكثافة. لكن بوتوكول GPSR يتجاوز بروتوكول AOMDV في الأداء عندما تكون شبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة ذات كثافة متوسطة أو عالية نتيجة إستخدامه للمعلومات الجيوغرافية لتوجيه حزم البيانات وبالتالي يوفر عناء إستخدام طريقة البحث عن المسار أو الطريق التي يستخدمها بوتوكول AOMDV. إستخدام طريقة الأستشعار energy-aware ساعد في تمديد العمر الأفتراضي لشبكات الأستشعار اللاسلكية المتحركة مع نزول طفيف في أدا النظام بسبب أن أجهزة الأستشعار تصبح متحفظة عندما تبدأ طاقتها بالنفاذ

### CHAPTER 1

## INTRODUCTION

Wireless sensor networks (WSNs) consist of low powered devices that have computation, wireless communication and environment sensing capabilities. Most of these networks are application oriented in which network static sensors are deployed and preplanned for the purpose of sensing the changes of an environmental phenomenon. Those sensors report to a data deposit node exists in the network field called sink or base-station node. Wireless sensor networks open the door for many applications in different fields such as military [8], industrial [9], and environmental monitoring [10][11][12]. For instance, Zebra Net system [10] (used for wild life monitoring) consists of sensors attached to wild animals. This system is used to collect information about animals and their traveling activities to help zoologists in studying and understanding animals behavior in wildlife. Similar system of habitant monitoring was conducted to monitor seabirds nesting environments and behavior of those birds using a wireless sensor network system [11]. Air quality monitoring is another application in which pollution levels are monitored in urban areas using Geo-sensor networks. Pollution alarms are issued according to safety levels which effects on human health [13]. Beside environmental monitoring applications, wireless sensor networks are used in many critical applications such in unmanned surveillance missions where involvement of humans contains high risks as it is the case in military surveillance missions or gathering information about enemy lines or in border areas [14].

### 1.1 Mobility in Wireless Sensor Networks

Wireless sensor networks usually consist of statically deployed sensor nodes monitoring surrounding environment and reporting to a stationary sink node through multiple hop data forwarding. However, in some WSNs, some nodes may have the ability to move from one location to another. This movement capability can be usefully (for the network benefit) and purposefully (based on commands) used. For example, sink node may move in the network field between static sensors [15],[16] to collect data. Sink movement prolongs the total network lifetime by balancing energy consumption between different sensors instead of sink node neighbors. Those sink's neighbors suffer because all network sensed data packets are forwarded to them before arriving destination (static sink node). Existence of controlled mobile nodes is not exclusive to mobile sink. Some wireless sensor networks contain few mobile nodes called data mules which move between static sensors to collect sensed data and deposit them in the sink node [17]. Those nodes usually are powerful in communication, computation and energy resources. Usage

of data mules reduces energy consumed by sensors when they route packets to sink node. Data packets are sent directly by sensors to data mules, then relied to sink node instead of normal multi-hop routing. Even usage of data mules in WSNs prolongs network life time, but it has a side effect on data delivery delay since sensor buffer data until it can connect to one of those moving data mules. Therefore, sophisticated movement scheduling algorithms for data mules are required. Existence of nodes mobility in wireless sensor network may have some advantages such as extending network coverage [18] when nodes fail due to hardware faults or energy shortage. Also, sensing coverage can be extended to places where deployment of static or stationary sensors is impossible due to short time needed sensing coverage or deployment costs. For that purpose and differently than in mobile sink or mules, sensor nodes must have ability to move toward those sensory uncovered areas. Robomote [19] is a mobile platform designed with two motors and can carry a mote or sensor device. Motion of Robomote is controlled by mote device (e.g. MICA mote). Users can develop TinyOS application to manage Robomote movement behavior. Similiar to Robomote[19], a wheel-based robotic sensor node called RacemoteZ [20] is designed to monitor microclimate changes in dangerous environments that are inaccessible by human or large robots.

# 1.2 Uncontrolled Mobility in Wireless Sensor Networks

Instead of using motors for sensor movement (as in Robomote [19] for example), sensors can be attached to any moving object in the surrounding environment such as buses, cars, animals (e.g. as used in Zebra Net system [10]) and even people. Many monitoring applications incorporate community users in the sensing process. Instead of using a large stationary wireless sensor network, they use community members (people with sensing units) to support traditional stationary sensors. Common Sense [1] is one of those systems. Sensing units held by people are used to sense surrounding environment pollution levels and expose that data back to community users through a web portal. This community sensing has a big opportunity in environmental applications, especially with the rapid development in smartphone devices that contain many embedded sensors and their ability to interface with traditional sensors [21]. Many environmental monitoring systems depend totally on mobile sensors, as it is the case in OpenSense system [22]. Air pollution levels in Zurich city, Switzerland are measured using sensors attached to moving buses and trams. In this system sensor's mobility is not controlled by end user as its the case in Robomote[19].

Smartphones are used to get information that help disaster (e.g. earthquake ) emergency units as it is the case in iShake system [23]. Embedded accelerometer sensors in smart phones are used for sensing motion produced by an earthquake and report directly to emergency systems to evaluate distribution of earthquake



Figure 1.1: A mobile sensor network formed between military units damages.

Existence of sensors mobility introduces new class of WSNs called Mobile Wireless Sensor Networks (MWSNs) [24]. OpenSense [22] and many other pollution monitoring systems [3] [25] deployed on top of such like MWSNs. Our focus in this thesis is on mobile wireless sensor networks in which sensor nodes are mobile and uncontrolled by end user as it is the case when sensors are attached to environment moving objects (such as vehicles) to become mobile sensors.

### **1.3** Research Motivation

Beside existing air quality monitoring applications, there are other fields that can benefit from mobile wireless sensor networks. For example, critical military missions usually consist of different types of units such as tanks, ships, planes, robots and soldiers. A mobile wireless sensor network can be formed between those collaborating units and a command center for the detection of enemy movements, border intruders and protection from possible threats. ( see figure 1.1). In the industry, an early chemical leakage detection in industrial regions around big urban areas is a critical issue for governments due to large damage it can cause. Traditional sensors maybe only deployed in limited areas around factories. Exiting moving vehicles (buses, trams, taxis and police cars) can be used to monitor levels of chemical pollution in such areas and determining affected areas for fast decision making. Such systems will help in saving lives by issuing alarms in the right times, to the right people who might be affected.

We are motivated by above mentioned possible applications of Mobile Wireless Sensor Networks (MWSNs) and the works done in many environmental monitoring systems such as OpenSense project [22] or the works in [3],[25] where they used MWSNs to evaluate air pollution levels in urban areas. Despite potential applications of Mobile wireless sensor networks, usage of uncontrolled mobile sensors imposes many challenges on the success of those applications. Measurements taken by those sensors may be inconsistent due changes in sensors density caused by mobility. This may affect network application since a consistent flow of environmental measurements in a specific time intervals is required. Data delivery is also affected by sensors mobility where network nodes connectivity (linkage between nodes) may change from time to time. Also, data validity is tightly related to time especially for critical applications which make decision taking on which suitable data delivery mechanism a challenging task.

### 1.4 Thesis Objectives

Considering the above possible applications of mobile wireless sensor networks and challenges imposed by sensors mobility and applications requirements. Designing new protocols or implementing new application on top of mobile wireless sensor networks is a challenging task specially when sensors mobility is uncontrolled by end user. Therefore, in this thesis we investigate these challenges and study the performance of a mobile wireless sensor network with a location based application. In such application, sensing measurements are taken based on specific points of interests in a field determined by end users. We focus our study on usage of different sensing and data delivery schemes that maybe used in mobile wireless sensor networks and their effect on application performance. For performance evaluation, we used utility function to estimate sensors contribution to the network application and energy consumed by each sensor.

### 1.5 Thesis Contributions

The thesis contributions can be summarized in following points:

- Prepare a simulation environment for a mobile wireless sensor network with a location-based application.
- Study impact of sensors mobility behavior on application performance.
- Study different sensing schemes that can be used by mobile sensor.

- Study different data delivery mechanisms and their effect on network application success and suitability to be used in mobile wireless sensor networks.
- Evaluate usage of those sensing and data delivery schemes using extensive simulations.
- Evaluate the performance of mobile wireless sensor network in which sensors mobility is uncontrolled by end users.

#### **1.6** Thesis Organization

This thesis is organized as in the following chapters. Chapter 2 starts with a background about existing mobile sensing systems from previous works. Comparison between these system is established according to many characteristics such as sensor mobility behavior, network application, communication models and location awareness. Chapter 3 discusses the system model used to simulate mobile sensor networks and deployed application. This model is used in experiments done in next chapters. Chapter 4 introduces two different sensing schemes, thresholdbased and energy-aware sensing schemes and four different data delivery mechanisms that can be used by mobile sensing systems. We evaluate performance of mobile wireless sensor network using those sensing and data delivery schemes in chapter 5. Chapter 6 goes through the usage of two MANET routing protocol for data delivery in MWSNs. Finally, thesis is concluded in chapter 7 in which the overall performance of the evaluated mobile wireless networks is summarized with suggestions for future work.

### CHAPTER 2

## MOBILE SENSING SYSTEMS

In this chapter, we explore previous work done in the literature in the context of mobile sensor network systems. We classify the reviewed works on uncontrolled mobility in two paradigms, participatory and mobile sensing, based on the nature of mobile sensor involvement and commitment in the sensing process.

### 2.1 Participatory Sensing

Motivated by many promising environmental applications and the capabilities of new generation of mobile devices that could make them mobile sensors, participatory sensing is introduced by Burke et. al. [26]. In this model, data is gathered opportunistically by end users. Authors described a participatory sensing architecture called partisan that lets end users participate in the sensing process. This architecture is aimed to provide network discovery, naming and data dissemination services of many kinds of participatory sensing applications.

Many environmental monitoring applications can be classified as participatory

sensing systems such as Ear-Phone [27], NoiseTube[28], CommonSense [1], N-SMARTS [29] and HazeWatch [30].

In Ear-Phone system [27], the authors use mobile phones to periodically (when phone is not busy and using the phone's mic) record noise levels. Noise levels are stored with GPS-Time stamp and then transmitted to central server. An application then analyze the data and draws a road noise pollutions map. This helps in measuring city noise levels faster than traditional way that depends on stationary measurements.

Similar to Ear-Phone [27], the authors of the NoiseTube [28] system use smartphone as mobile sensors to assess noise pollution in people environment (e.g. home, office, tram and bus stations). Each second a sample is recorded, Time-Location stamped, and sent using the smartphone to a central server. The noise pollution map is then drawn to reveal users exposure to noise pollution in their every day environment.

In Common Sense [1], the authors try to fill the gap caused due to sparsely deployed air quality monitoring stations by using monitoring devices held by individuals, as in Figure 2.1, to sense their environment and expose collected data to all community members through a web portal or mobile devices.

Similar to CommonSense[1], in N-SMARTS [29] the authors investigate ability to gather raw air pollution data using sensors attached to GPS-enabled cell phones. They develop a platform from sensors interfaced with smartphones to be used for air quality sensing.



Figure 2.1: CommonSense monitoring handheld devices [1]

In HazeWatch [30] system, the authors use portable sensor units attached to cars to monitor air pollution as users drive. Air pollutants such as carbon monoxide (CO) and nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) is measured by sensing unit and sent to the driver's mobile phone through a Bluetooth module. These measurements are Location-Time stamped and are sent directly to a cloud server by the mobile phone. A map of pollution levels is generated and pollution information is distributed back to individual users.

When Burke [26] introduced participatory model, mobile phones were not powerful as they are these days. Beside their location awareness (GPS/GLONASS), computation and communication capabilities, new emerging smart phones contain many embedded sensors such as Accelerometer, Geomagnetic, Proximity, Gyroscope, etc [31]. Also, external traditional sensors, if needed, can be interfaced to those smartphones. In [21] for example, the authors incorporate community in the sensing process by using sensors attached to smartphones held by moving people. The authors plugged an Ozone sensor with a smartphone to produce a GasMobile device. This device is used by bicycle riders to periodically measure the air quality. Measurement are GPS-Time stamped and sent directly to a monitoring



Figure 2.2: Sensor board on tram and city CO pollution map from OpenSense system [2]

server.

Devices with such features can be used in the design and implementation of many location based sensing applications. For example a smartphone can be configured, using proximity alert feature, to take an image whenever its user go through a specific location(s).

Although participatory sensing has an advantage of acquiring large amounts of data in a simple and cost efficient way using community members, it suffers from a problem which is that end users are not always willing to participate in the sensing process. Our system model is similar in the concept of participatory sensing by using mobile nodes to sense the surrounding environment. However, in our case these devices are committed, when needed, in doing sensing tasks for the success or satisfactions of network application. This is not the case in participatory sensing model in which users are voluntarily participate in data gathering.

#### 2.2 Mobile Sensing

Many sensing applications exist in dynamic environments that contain naturally moving objects. OpenSense project [32][22] is an obvious example of exploiting surrounding mobile objects such as buses and trams for environment sensing. OpenSense [22] is deployed in the city of Zurich, Switzerland at the end of September 2011 [2]. In that system, a board of sensors deployed on top of moving buses and trams through the city to gather data about air quality. Measurement of emitted gases (e.g. Ozone  $O_3$ , nitrogen dioxide  $NO_2$ , nitrogen monoxide NO and sulfur dioxide  $SO_2$ ) and fine particles concentration in the city air are collected. These collected measurements are used to draw a real time and historical map view of air quality (air pollution levels) in the city as in Figure 2.2.

Authors of [33] combine user activity sensing through sensors built in mobile smartphones with air quality mobile sensing systems such as OpenSense [22] to find out whether people daily actives can expose them to air pollution.

One of the early mobile sensing systems is CarTel [34]. CarTel consists of units for collecting sensing data and opportunistically (e.g. Wi-Fi) sending the collected data to a back end servers. CarTel units send data either through open Wi-Fiaccess points or through other CarTel nodes (cars) to relay data to background servers.

Similar to OpenSense [22], an air pollution monitoring project is conducted in Sharjah city, UAE [25]. They used three pollutant sensors (carbon monoxide CO, nitrogen dioxide NO<sub>2</sub>, and sulfur dioxide SO<sub>2</sub>) and the measurements are directly



Figure 2.3: Real-time vehicular mobile sensing box and heat map of Carbon Monoxide concentration [3]

sent through GPRS (General Packet Radio Service) connection to an air pollution monitoring server.

Another air quality vehicular based project in [3] monitors air pollutants such as carbon monoxide (CO), carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) emitted from vehicles to city air. The authors develop two mobile sensing models, one for public transportation such as buses or cars (Figure 2.3) which similar to sensing board in OpenSense [32][22]. The other model is for personal usage such as air-quality aware drivers in which the driver can connect a personal sensing unit with his/her smartphone and get involved in a participatory sensing process similar to CommonSense [1] or HazeWatch[30] projects.

Instead of fixed air quality stations, an air quality monitoring is carried using Vehicular Sensor Network (VSN) in Palermo Italy [6]. Public transportation buses are used instead of cars which was used in CarTel [34]. Each vehicle (bus) is equipped with a sensing unit for air pollutants (e.g. NO2,CO2 and CO), temperature and humidity. Measurements are periodically collected and sent. Each sensing unit works in store-and-forward fashion where collected data are buffered until the vehicle meets an access point. Then, data is forwarded to central server for more analysis and minig. Access points are positioned in road intersections and traffic lights.

In OpenSense [32][22], sensors (buses with sensing units) move according to predetermined Time-Route table (bus, tram travelling path) performing periodic sensing which is also the case in Ear-Phone [27] in which mobile sensors move beside traffic roads.

OpenSense [32][22] authors exploited the pervious knowledge of time and path to get optimal sensing scheme, OptiMos [32], which can be used to reduce the sampling rate. This prior knowledge does not exists in our case were mobile sensors move randomly in the sensing area. Table 2.1 provides a summary of previously mentioned systems with a simple comparison of how they work. Most of the above works assume that sensors are aware of their locations and can directly send collected measurement (e.g. 3G/GPRS).

In this thesis, we use similar assumptions to study different sensing and data delivery mechanisms in a totally mobile, and uncontrollable wireless sensor networks.

Paper Work	Host	Sensor Type	Sensing	Data	Location
	Object		Scheme	Delivery	Awareness
CommonSense	People	Hand held	Participatory	GPRS	GPS
[1]		devices			
Ear-Phone	People	Mobile	Phone	Open Wi-	Phone GPS
[27]		Phone Mic	not used	Fi APs,	
				maybe 3G	
HazeWatch	Cars	Air pollu-	When user	GSM	Phone GPS
[30]		tants sensors	drive		
OpenSense	Buses,	Air pollu-	Location-	GSM	GPS
[22]	Trams	tants sensors	Time table		
Sharjah [25]	Buses	air pollu-	Threshold	GPRS	GPS
		tants sensors	based		
MAQUMON	Cars	Air pollu-	Periodically	GSM	GPS
[35]		tants sensors			
GasMobile	Bicycles	Ozone	Every	3G	phone GPS
[21]		sensor	5 seconds		
[3]	Cars, Buses	Air pollutant	Every	3G/GPRS	GPS
		sensors	5 seconds		
VSN [6]	Buses	Air pollutant	Periodically	Wi-Fi APs	GPS
		sensors			
CarTel [34]	Cars	GPS data	When user	Wi-Fi APs	GPS
			drive	Other Cat-	
				Tels	

Table 2.1: Comparison of mobile sensing systems

### CHAPTER 3

### SYSTEM MODEL

In this chapter, we define the model we use in our experiments. We discuss the sensing platform we used to model sensor nodes, the assumed network application and the mobility pattern that mobile sensors follow.

### 3.1 Network Model

We assume that the network application is designed for an event detection such as chemical leakage or fire detection in specific locations. The mobile wireless sensor network consists of a set  $N\{S_1, S_2, S_3, ..., S_n\}$  of randomly moving sensors. Main application (e.g. chemical leakage or fire detection) is divided into set  $J\{M_1, M_2, M_3, ..., M_J\}$  of location-based missions or points of interest.

We adopt the definition used by Rowaihy et. al. [36], which is: "a primitive sensing task defined by specific geographic location that requires information, which maybe contributed by one or more deployed sensors". A mission represents a data request or command to collect sensing measurements from that location



Figure 3.1: Network model. 100 Mobile sensors, 10 missions and one base-station.

by all surrounding sensors. These requests can be changed based on new user requirements. Collected measurements are transfered to a base-station or sink node. The Number and locations of missions are user parameters. Figure 3.1 shows a sample network view in which circles represent mobile sensors and xmarks are points of interest or missions that need to be sensed according to user requirement. In our model network has one base-station in the center of the field. We can imagine this environment as in a chemical factory campus or big construction site in which mobile sensors are attached to workers, vehicles, or any moving object. Missions' locations represent points of interest that need to be checked for any leakage.

Every sensor in the network moves randomly according to its host object's behavior. It also senses missions within a specific sensing range, buffers those generated measurement data, and deposits them to the base-station when it is possible. When data is received by the base-station, it can be used by the application layer to do draw a pollution levels map, for example. The utility provided by a mobile sensor to a specific mission represents the probability of event detection at that location or the quality of information received from that sensor. In most cases, this utility is affected by sensor type (e.g. camera with zooming capability) and distance between that sensor and the event location. For instance, measurements taken by sensors near a gas leakage will be more accurate (for gas leakage detection) compared to measurements taken by sensors located on farther locations.

At each time unit, a single mission,  $M_j$ , may receive utility from one or more sensors. The utility received by  $M_j$  which we denote as  $u_j$  is defined as follows:

$$u_j = 1 - \prod_{S_i \to M_j} (1 - e_{ij})$$
(3.1)

where  $e_{ij}$  is the utility contributed by sensor  $S_i$  to mission  $M_j$  which represents the event detection probability at mission's location. The product inside the brackets represents the the probability that the event is not detected by sensors surrounding mission  $M_j$ . Therefore, utility received,  $u_j$ , by mission  $M_j$  is one minus the product i.e. the probabilities that the event is detected. The main network goal is to maximize the average utility received by each mission or what we call network utility and denote as U. Hence, U is defined as follows:

$$U = (\sum_{j=1}^{J} u_j) / |J|$$
(3.2)

where  $u_j$  is the utility received by mission  $M_j$  (see equation 3.1) and |J| is the size of set J which includes all missions. In this model, the system's performance depends on the amount of utility received by each mission and the number of missions that have been covered.

At any point in time, some missions may receive utility from mobile sensors and others may not (e.g no nearby sensors are available ) which will be reflected on the success of these missions at that time unit. Mission success depends on the amount of utility it gets from network sensors and the time it take the measured data to be received by base-station. Data received after certain time period, T, from its generation or measurement time is useless. This time interval is a user parameter and represents the period of time data still valid and can be used. We call it *the deadline interval*.

Most of the previously reviewed works assume unlimited direct wireless connection, in which sensors use 3G/GPRS connections to send data to back end servers [32][22][27][1][21][25][3]. However, other systems like *CarTel* [34] and the VSN [6] use opportunistic connectivity either through *Wi-Fi* access points or data mules (other CarTel nodes) for data delivery. In these systems, data packets are buffered temporally until sensor node finds an access point or another node to relay packets to the base-station. Therefore, in next chapter we will go through different data delivery mechanisms similar to those used in reviewed mobile sensing systems in Chapter 2.
Sensors	Temp, Carbon Monoxide, Atmospheric Pressure
Sensing range	40 meters
Sensing energy consumption	12  mA  (5V)
Communication range	80 meters
Wi-Fi Data Rate	2 Mbps
Wi-Fi Tx energy consumption	38  mA (4.2 V)
Wi-Fi Rx energy consumption	38 mA (4.2V)
GPRS Data Rate	42.8 Kbps
GPRS TX energy consumption	1.4 A (4.2V)

Table 3.1: Sensor node characteristics in behave of Waspmote sensor platform

## 3.2 Sensor Node

In any wireless sensing system, design and configuration of sensor node depends on the application. In order to be more realistic, we model sensor nodes in our system based on *Waspmote* [4] sensor platform (Waspmote is Libelium's advanced mote for Wireless Sensor Networks ). Figure 3.2 shows how a *Waspmote* looks like.

We assume that sensor board consists of three sensors, Temperature, Carbon Monoxide (CO) and Atmospheric Pressure Sensor [37] as these sensors can be used for fire detection. To make our simulation based experiments more realistic we use similar specifications of these sensors such as the size of generated data and the energy consumption. Each sensor node contains two communication modules. A GPRS (General Packet Radio Service) connection module for directly sending data packets to base-station similar to *OpenSense* [32],[22] and many other mobile sensing systems [3],[25] and another *Wi-Fi* communication module similar to CarTel[34] or VSN[6] systems. Table 3.1 contains characteristics on which we model our sensor nodes.



Figure 3.2: WaspMote sensor node [4].

## 3.3 Mobility Models

Behavior of mobile sensor depends on its moving host object (e.g. vehicles, or people) which meas that sensors movement is uncontrolled. To imitate the behavior of real life moving objects we use two different mobility models, Random WayPoint [38] and Reference Point Group Model [39].

**Random Way Point (RWP)** [38] is a famous entity based mobility model in which a mobile node starts moving to a random destination within field area with a uniformly distributed speed between two values, minimum and maximum speeds. When a node arrives to the destination and before it chooses another destination, it stops for a specific pause time. Then it continues its journey to a new destination with a new direction and speed. People movement can be modeled with such model.

**Reference Point Group Model (RPGM)** [39] is a group based model. Group nodes move based on a movement path of a logical center (reference node) of that group. Independently from other members within the group, mobile node adjusts its movement based on the movement of the reference node. Pause time for all group nodes is the same as the reference node. Disasters surveillance groups of medical teams, groups of soldiers in military tactical missions, or tourists groups in city tours can be modeled by this model.

## **3.4** Other Assumptions

We build our system model based on few assumptions and we need to make them clear in this section. We assume that each mobile sensor knows its geographic location using any localization mechanism (e.g. GPS). This assumption is necessary in our model since we use a location based sensing application. Also sensors know locations of missions which can either be initially configured or on the fly based on user requirements. Sensors are omni-directional, i.e. they can sense and measure multiple directions at the same time. For example, gas sensors can sense all the surrounding environment at once. Therefore, utility contributed by a single sensor can be used by all missions within its sensing range.

## CHAPTER 4

## SENSING AND DATA DELIVERY SCHEMES

In this chapter we discuss the sensing and data delivery schemes that we propose to be used in mobile wireless sensor networks with uncontrolled mobility.

## 4.1 Sensing Schemes

During network life time, each sensor tries to serve missions within the field as it is configured. Each sensor evaluates its expected contribution for surrounding missions,  $e_{ij}$ . Behavior of sensor toward these missions depends on sensing scheme it follows. In the following we explain two sensing schemes: *threshold-based* and *energy-aware*.

#### 4.1.1 Threshold-Based

Before sensors deployment in the network field, they basically configured with a sensing scheme. For instance, in temperature or humidity sensing application, user may only be interested when temperature or humidity values are above normal or a specific value. This unusual value may indicate something wrong such as fire has happened or would happen. In our system model, we use a binary threshold based sensing scheme. In this scheme, each sensor is initially configured with a specific utility sensing threshold. Therefore, for sensor  $S_i$  to sense mission  $M_j$ , its expected utility  $e_{ij}$  contribution must be above a certain sensing threshold  $\tau$ . Sensing threshold,  $\tau$ , is a user defined parameter depends on the level of sensory information quality the user is interested in. However, sometimes the end user may demands any utility values, in which case the sensor sense every mission in its sensing range. In this scheme, the sensor becomes Naive and will have no consideration for the expected utility it may contribute. This *Naiive* scheme will have the highest energy consumption (sensor sense every mission it meets). A sensor can conserve more energy when higher thresholds are used.

#### 4.1.2 Energy-Aware

Energy is a major issue in sensor networks since each node is initially supplied with a limited battery capacity and replacement of dead battery may be impossible. Therefore, each sensor needs to keep attention to energy consumption to prolong the network life time. This is especially true when these sensors work in unmanned environments. Threshold based sensing scheme does not react to changes in sensor energy levels. Therefore, we propose an energy aware scheme in which sensor adapts it sensing threshold based on its fraction of remaining energy, f. This new threshold, r, us defined as follows:

$$r = \tau^f \tag{4.1}$$

The expected utility contribution,  $e_{ij}$  the sensor  $S_i$  provides to mission  $M_j$ , will be compared with r instead of  $\tau$  which is the basic sensing threshold defined above. Therefore, the sensor changes its sensing threshold as a response to energy decrement. As more energy gets consumed, a sensor becomes more conservative in sensing surrounding missions and will only sense missions with higher and higher utility.

## 4.2 Data Delivery Schemes

Each generated sensory measurement need to be delivered successfully to the basestation to be used by system end users (e.g. draw city pollution map). Therefore, network connectivity (i.e. connection between sensor nodes and base-station) plays a major role in network application success.

In previously reviewed works, in Chapter 2, different communication models are used by these mobile sensing systems. In this section we assume different mechanisms mobile sensor can use for data delivery to the base-station. We con-

Sensing Application	
IP	
SNDCP	
LLC	
RLC/MAC	
GSM RF	

Figure 4.1: The GPRS protocol stack [5]

sider four schemes; namely GPRS, Wi-Fi, Hybrid, and Adhoc.

#### 4.2.1 GPRS

*OpenSense* [22][32] and many other mobile sensing systems (such as [3],[25]) assume that data packets are directly sent from sensor nodes to back end servers using 3G/GPRS data connection. To model GPRS connection, we assume an ideal case in which there is no collision or interference.

Sensor generated data frame is folded inside an IP packet as it is specified in the GPRS protocol stack [40] (see Figure 4.1) and sent directly to base-station (network tower). In mobile sensing system, a data frame is produced after the sensing process contains measurements from all used sensors as in Table 3.1. According to *Waspmote* binary frame format [41], a 51 byte sized frame is produced if these three sensors (Temperature, Carbon Monoxide (CO) and Atmospheric Pressure) are used in addition to GPS coordinates for positioning. We reserve more 17 bytes for future use if more sensors are added or sensor needs to pass more information to the base-station node. Therefore, packet payload consist of



Figure 4.2: Direct Wi-Fi communication [6]

68 bytes. We use an up-link data rate equals to 42.8*Kbps* as it is specified by SIM5218E [42] cellular shield for a GPRS connection. For energy consumption we assume worst case in which sensor node sends data using peak current level it could reach when communicating with carrier according to SIM5218E [42] celluar shield used with *Waspmote* nodes [43] as specified in Table 3.1.

#### 4.2.2 Wi-Fi

CarTel [34] and VSN [6] systems use opportunistic connectivity such as Wi-Fi access points or data mules (i.e. other *CarTel* nodes) for sending collected sensory data to back end servers (see Figure 4.2). In our system, beside GPRS communication module, each mobile sensor node is equipped with a Wi-Fi communication module. Therefore, sensor node can send data directly to any access point it



Figure 4.3: Hybrid approach. GPRS and Wi-Fi communication coverage

meets while it is moving. We assume that sensor sends data packets using Wi-Fi module according to IEEE 802.11a protocol standard. Unlike using direct GPRS connection, generated sensory measurements may be buffered for some time since mobile sensor may not always find an access points. For energy conservation, we assume that data packet buffered for period of time longer than deadline interval (T) will be discarded from sensor buffer as they will no longer be useful. In this scheme there might be a delay as full coverage of Wi-Fi access points is not always available.

### 4.2.3 Hybrid (GPRS and Wi-Fi)

In the previous schemes, we assume that a mobile sensor may use GPRS or Wi-Fi connection to send data packets. In this hybrid scheme mobile sensor can use both communication modules (GPRS and Wi-Fi) interchangeably based on the communication coverage sensor is within as in Figure 4.3. However, due to expected high energy current when GPRS connection is used, we assume that Wi-Fi has higher priority. Smartphones, when used as sensors, is a real example of such scenario. In the Wi-Fi scheme, a sensor node waits until it finds an access point to send its buffered data packets. In this scheme, however, whenever a new measurement is collected, if the sensor node is within coverage of any Wi-Fi access point it choses to send the measurement through it, otherwise the sensor node uses GPRS communication module to send the data directly to back end servers. We expect in this scheme that all generated data packets sent with a negligible delay since sensor node always have a choice to send either through GPRS or Wi-Fi modules. We considered this communication approach due that some sensing application may use smartphones as mobile sensors similar to the work done in [21] in which the authors plugged an Ozone sensor with a smartphone. Even the authors assume that data is sent directly using 3G connection, however, Wi-Fi connectivity can be used when users are inside building (home or work).

#### 4.2.4 Ad-Hoc

In this scheme, mobile sensors form an ad-hoc network among themselves using the Wi-Fi communication modules. Therefore, data packets can be forwarded in a multi-hop fashion toward base-station node. Many routing protocols are developed for wireless sensor networks. Most of these routing protocols, however, are specifically designed with the assumption that network sensors are static [44] which is not the case here where the network consists of mobile sensor nodes. Due to similarity between MANET (Mobile Adhoc NETwork) [45] and MWSNs (mobility of network nodes), existing MANET routing protocols can be used for this purpose since they are designed to work in totally mobile adhoc networks. We use two MANET routing protocol, Greedy Perimeter Stateless Routing Protocol (GPSR) [7] and Ad-hoc On-demand Multipath Distance Vector (AOMDV) [46].

#### Greedy Perimeter Stateless Routing (GPSR)

Greedy Perimeter Stateless Routing (GPSR) [7] is a location-based routing protocol which assumes that each routing node knows its geographic location (e.g. using GPS). Each node announces its existence by broadcasting periodic beacons (i.e. proactive before any traffic start) to its one-hop neighbors. Each beacon contains the node's ID (e.g. IP address) and its geographic location. Using information (locations and IDs) from received beacons, each node forms a list of its one-hop neighbors. This list is kept valid only for a specific period of time. GPSR uses greedy forwarding to route data packets to their destined nodes as in Figure 4.4a (GPSR also assumes knowledge of destination's location). GPSR greedily forwards a packet from source node  $(\mathbf{x})$  to the closest next hop  $(\mathbf{y})$  to destination node (**D**). Sometimes greedy forwarding becomes impossible as in Figure 4.4b in which no neighbor node is closer to destination than source  $\mathbf{x}$  to destination  $\mathbf{D}$ . Therefore, GPSR tries to go around void area (i.e. area in which no nodes closer to destination than source). Then data packet is forwarded using perimeter nodes (w then v or v then z) as in Figure 4.4b. D is the destination and x is the node where the packet enters perimeter mode. Packet follows a path formed by perimeter forwarding. Whenever greedy forwarding is possible, then packet is forwarded according to greedy forwarding again.

In GPSR, beside knowledge of its location, each source node need to know location of destination node (base-station in our case) and a list of its one-hop neighbors locations and IDs.

#### Ad-hoc On-demand Multipath Distance Vector (AOMDV)

AOMDV [46] is built based on AODV [47] routing protocol. It uses similar route discovery procedure used by AODV. AODV is a reactive routing protocol in which it start route discovery process only when there is a traffic to destination. Source node floods the network with a Route Request (RREQ) messages to destination marked with a unique sequence number. Intermediate node broadcasts this request message unless it has a valid and fresh route to destination, then it sends a Route Reply (RREP) message to the source node. Intermediate node records previous hop RREQ message is received from to form a reverse path toward source node. Duplicate RREQ messages are discarded by intermediate nodes. When the first RREQ message reach destination node, it sends back a RREP message toward source node following the same reverse path formed by intermediate nodes during the discovery process. Destination discards any received duplicate RREQ messages (see Figure 4.5a). The problem with AODV, it builds a single route path toward destination. When this route fails, another route discovery is needed. Therefore, AOMDV is designed with the main goal is to setup multiple routes



Figure 4.4: The GPSR routing protocol. [7]



(a) RREQ messages broadcast.



(b) Reverse path formation.

Figure 4.5: The AOMDV route discovery.

within the same route discovery process (see Figure 4.5b). AOMDV exploits these duplicated RREQ messages to build multiple, loop free and link-disjoint paths within source and intermediate nodes. Destination node send RREP message to each RREQ message received from a different hop (unlike AODV in which destination discards other received RREQ messages after it sent the first RREP message). This provides alternative paths to destination and the route discovery is needed only when all these routes fail. The authors of AOMDV use HELLO messages to detects links break which is optional in AODV protocol. AODV protocol [47], has been studied in [48] to work in mobile wireless sensor networks. The authors claim that AODV is not suitable to work on MWSNs cause it is unable to detect broken routes and react quickly to topology changes in mobile environments. Therefore, we use AOMDV[46] routing protocol which is similar to AODV, but performs better than AODV as its authors claim.

In general, AOMDV is a reactive protocol, however, addition of HELLO message for down link detection is a proactive procedure similar to GPSR beacons. We use both routing protocols, GPSR and AOMDV, as ad-hoc options for data delivery in MWSNs.

## CHAPTER 5

# EVALUATION OF SENSING AND DATA DELIVERY SCHEMES IN MWSNS

In this chapter we evaluate performance of a mobile wireless sensor network with an event detection (e.g. chemical leakage or fire detection) application as discussed in Chapter 3. Network sensors use different sensing and data delivery schemes as discussed in Chapter 4. We focus on two metrics: average utility received by a mission and average node energy consumption by running different sets of experiments.

Parameters	Values
Mobility model	RPGM/Random WayPoint(RWP)
Simulation area	$(400 \text{ X } 400) m^2$
# of nodes	$10,\!50,\!100,\!150,\!200,\!250$
Packet payload	68 byte
Sensing rate	Every 5 seconds
# of missions	30
Time to live (Deadline)	20  seconds  (T=20)
# of base-stations	1, 4, 9
Max Pause time	20 seconds
Minimum node speed	0.5  meter/s
Maximum node speed	10 meter/s
Simulation time	1800 seconds

Table 5.1: Simulation parameters

## 5.1 Simulation Setup

We use the ns2 simulator [49] to evaluate the network performance. This simulator is used in many research works in the field of Adhoc and Wireless Sensor Networks and it supports node mobility. For sensors mobility, we use the *Bonnomotion* tool [50] to generate mobility files. These files are integrated within ns2 simulation. Table 5.1 contains the simulation parameters. As in Section 3.1, all missions are modeled as an event detection [51][52] such as chemical leakage or fire detection for alarm monitoring systems. The utility function we use to model the utility provided by sensor  $S_i$  to mission  $M_j$  is defined as follows:

$$e_{ij} = exp\left(log\left(P_{FA}\right)\left(1 + \frac{SNR_1}{D_{ij}^2}\right)^{-1}\right)$$
(5.1)

where  $P_{FA}$  is the false alarm probability (user chosen parameter) and  $SNR_1$  is the signal to noise ratio at a distance of one meter from the source signal. Utility  $e_{ij}$ 



Figure 5.1: Expected utility contribution  $(e_{ij})$  according to the distance  $(D_{ij})$  between sensor  $S_i$  and mission  $M_j$ .

represents the probability of event detection by sensor  $S_i$  at mission  $M_j$  location.  $D_{ij}$  is the distance between sensor  $S_i$  and mission  $M_j$  at sensing time. We chose to use this formula as in [51][52], however, other functions can be used to model sensor to mission utility. Figure 5.1 shows expected utility according to distance between a sensor and mission. Missions are uniformly distributed within (400 X 400) square meters field area with one base-station positioned at the center. While sensor is moving and based on its sensing rate (every 5 seconds), it evaluates the expected contribution,  $e_{ij}$ , for surrounding missions as in equation 5.1. Sensor opens it sensing unit for one second to sense a mission. Utility set to zero when the distance,  $D_{ij}$ , between a sensor and mission, becomes greater than its sensing range.  $P_{FA}$  and  $SNR_1$  were set as 0.001 and 30*dB* respectively. These two values are used only for testing and may not exactly model the behavior of a sensor type.



Figure 5.2: Average Mission 's Utility vs Node Density. RWP mobility model with 30 Missions and GPRS connection

We assume that data packets received after 20 seconds are discarded (i.e. T = 20 seconds). Measurements are also discarded from a sensor's buffer after 20 seconds from its generation. Communication range of sensor node and Wi-Fi access point set to 80 meters. We set it smaller than used by *Waspmote* Wi-Fi communication model [53] in which sensor can send up to 100 meters. We run set of experiments for evaluating network performance. Obtained results are taken based on network running on period of 1800 seconds and averaged over 30 runs.

## 5.2 Results and Discussion

#### 5.2.1 Utility vs Node Density

In the first set of experiments we study the average utility received by a mission at each time unit for the whole network lifetime. Sensors are moving according to Random WayPoint model (RWP). Thirty missions are uniformly distributed within the field. We assume that data packets are directly sent through GPRS data connection. Threshold based sensing scheme is used. We used two sensing thresholds ( $\tau=25\%$  and  $\tau=50\%$ ). Also, we configured sensors to behave in *Naiive* fashion in which they sense all missions within their sensing range.

Our goal here is to test the effect of node density on utility received by missions from surrounding mobile sensors. Figure 5.2 shows the results we obtained. As expected, higher node density improves utility received by missions since each mission maybe sensed by more than one sensor. The *Naiive* sensing scheme outperforms the 25% or 50% thresholds based sensing schemes since it has no consideration of expected utility and missions can get benefit even from low utility values. As sensing threshold increase, quality requirements become higher and sensor needs to be more closer to sense a mission. This reduces number of times that a mission got sensed. This is reflected on the amount of utility it receives.

Using GPRS connection eliminate the effect of the deadline interval (T) on utility received by missions since all data packets are received with small delay. We found that there is no much effect on average utility each mission received when the number of missions is increased (with the assumption that sensors have



Figure 5.3: Average Mission Utility vs Mobility Model for 200 nodes with 30 Missions and GPRS data connection

enough energy supply). This happens due to the omni-directional operation of sensors. As we assumed earlier, a gas sensor reading can be used for detecting pollution level in an area with radius of its sensing range. Hence, all points (e.g. missions in our case) within that area are covered. This is not the case when sensors are directional, such as cameras, in which sensor can contribute only to the closest mission and other missions will receive zero utility even if they lie within the sensor's sensing range. Therefore, from here on, we show results only for 30 missions unless the number of missions makes a difference.

#### 5.2.2 Utility vs Mobility

In the second set of experiments we study the effect of sensor node mobility behavior on the average utility received by a mission. Number of nodes set to N = 200 nodes and the field has 30 missions that are uniformly distributed. Each sensor sends data directly through GPRS data connection. Sensors are moving according to RWP and RPGM models as in Table 5.1. In RPGM model, the number of nodes inside each group are varied (2, 3, and 5 nodes) within a maximum distance of 40 meters from group center and zero probability for a node to change its group to fix node density in each group. From Figure 5.3 we can see that RWP outperforms RPGM due to node grouping. As group members increases, the possibility that group members sense the same missions increase in which case redundant sensory data maybe received for a single mission. This improves utility for that mission, but on the other hand, other missions may not receive any utility which affects the overall performance. It becomes obvious when we decrease number of nodes within each group. Nodes grouping bounds the nodes ability to spread around to a larger geographic area which is reflected on coverage of the sparsely deployed missions near border areas. However, in RWP model, larger areas are covered and missions are likely to be covered better than in RPGM model since sensors move individually.

#### 5.2.3 Utility vs Data Delivery

In this set of experiments we study the effect of data delivery mechanism on the average utility received by a mission. We use a network with 200 nodes with RWP model movement and data validity interval (deadline interval), T, equals 20 seconds. Data received after T seconds from its generation is useless



Figure 5.4: Average Mission Utility vs Data Delivery with 30 missions and 200 nodes. RWP model

and discarded by the application layer and from the sensor's buffer. We use different data delivery schemes as discussed in Section 4.2. In the case where sensor send only to open Wi-Fi access points (i.e. we call it here a base-station) it may coincidentally meet, we varied number of access points (1, 4, and 9 open access points or base-stations). We want to test the effect of Wi-Fi coverage on data delivery. When sensors use both GPRS and Wi-Fi communication modules (Hybrid approach), we use only one base-station in the center of network field. We also test ad-hoc delivery mechanism by using GPSR and AOMDV routing protocols for forwarding data packets to base-station node through the network formed between mobile sensors.

For GPSR we use original protocol implementation by protocol authors in [7] with same configuration except we here use only 1.5 second beacon interval. We use AOMDV implementation available within ns2 simulator [49] with a 1.5 second HELLO interval. Sensor node setting (sensing, communication and energy consumption settings) was set as in Table 3.1. Figure 5.4 shows the results of the experiments.

GPRS connection provides best coverage since data are directly sent to basestation which reflected on average received utility by each mission where no data packets are discarded. However with Wi-Fi only, when there is only one basestation, about 12% of field area are covered, delayed data packets are discarded which reduces amount of sensory data received by each mission as it appear in Figure 5.4 (more than 50% of mission's utility is lost). By increasing number of base-stations in the field, there is a higher possibility that sensors find open access points to send data to back end servers. Even when four base-stations are used, a small amount of data packets are discarded from sensor buffer due delay. When the number of base-stations is increased to 9, all field areas are covered (we assume a grid based base-station positioning such as 2X2 or 3X3) and sensor data are directly sent to one of these base-stations. This improves received utility by each mission to reach levels similar to GPRS. In real world scenarios, full coverage of Wi-Fi access points is not always available. However, we add it here to test the effect of communication coverage in data delivery and received utility as it appear in Figure 5.4 in which the addition of more than 9 base-stations is useless since all the field is covered.

As we expect, hybrid approach behave similarly to GPRS connection. In

hybrid approach, GPRS is always used in the absence of a base-station. Therefore, all data packets are delivered either using Wi-Fi access point (when available), or using GPRS connection.

Almost all data packets are delivered when sensors use ad-hoc network and GPSR as a routing protocol which reflected on average utility received by each mission (almost similar to GPRS connection and Hybrid approach) which was really surprising at the beginning. We found, however, that GPSR was doing well at high node density since we used 200 sensors which make an average network diameter of about 25 neighbors for each mobile sensor. This ensures that GPSR source node always find a neighbor to forward its data packet to the base-station. In case of MAC layer failure (node could not send or forward packet due to collision), the GPSR protocol uses a technique, to increase delivery ratio, by handling packets at network interface destined to failed hop to the routing layer (GPSR routing protocol) to be re-forwarded again. Therefore, each packet gets another chance to be forwarded to a next hop toward destination.

With the AOMDV routing protocol, not all sent data packets are delivered to base-station node which is reflected on the utility received by each mission. This is due to the reactive mechanism AOMDV uses (as discussed in Chapter 4) in which it starts route discovery (find multiple paths toward destination) only when traffic starts or when available routes fail. Therefore, packets are dropped when there is no route found. GPSR, on the other hands, works in a proactive fashion (i.e. before any traffic) in which each node builds it owns neighbors table



Figure 5.5: Average Node Energy Consumption vs Data Delivery. with 10 Missions and 200 nodes, RWP model

that will be used to forwards data packets. Therefore, GPSR performs better in data delivery compared to AOMDV that consume more time and bandwidth to find destination node.

#### 5.2.4 Energy Consumption vs Data Delivery

In this set of experiments, we show the effect of data delivery scheme on the average energy consumed by each node. Sensor consumes energy only for sensing and communication operations (transmition and reception) as specified in Table 3.1. Different number of missions (10, 20, and 30) are uniformly distributed within the field. In general, without considering delivery scheme, energy consumption should increase when we increase the number of missions. This is expected as sensors spend more time in sensing and transmitting generated measurements to



Figure 5.6: Average Node Energy Consumption vs Data Delivery. with 20 Missions and 200 nodes, RWP model



Figure 5.7: Average Node Energy Consumption vs Data Delivery. with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, RWP model

base-station. This becomes clear when the threshold,  $\tau$ , is decreased and energy consumption reaches its maximum when sensors become *Naiive* as can be seen in Figures 5.5, 5.6, 5.7. Sensors consume the least energy when they only use Wi-Fi for sending data packets. There is a little increase when more base-stations are used. This is expected since sensors send more packets when nine base-stations are used than when only one or four base-stations are used. However, we found that sensors consume a large amount of energy due to overhearing other nodes transmitted packets. This is mandatory since sensor need to keep its Wi-Fi module open to be able to find open access points.

GPSR and AOMDV routing protocols have the highest energy consumption, even higher than GPRS connection. This is due to the fact that in both protocols, a sensor performs a routing role beside its sensing task. According to our assumption, when GPRS is used, nodes do not affect each other while transmitting which is not the case in ad-hoc communication. Also, GPSR uses periodic beacons (even when there is no packets to send) to keep the neighbor's table fresh which consumes more energy for both transmition and reception of these beacons by sensors. AOMDV consumes more energy than GPSR routing protocol due its route discovery process (route request messages are broadcasted network wide). Also, AOMDV use periodic HELLO messages to detect link failure which consumes energy. Although GPSR uses explicit periodic beaconing, it uses sent packets as implicit beacons which reduces number of sent beacons by each node as more data packets sent or forwarded. When data packets are delivered using a GPRS connection, energy consumption was high due to high current levels (1.4A) when sensor communicates with network carrier for data transmition. However, when a sensor uses both Wi-Fi and GPRS modules simultaneously, energy consumption decreases since the Wi-Fi module consume less current than in GPRS module as in Figures 5.5, 5.6, 5.7.

#### 5.2.5 Threshold-Based vs Energy-Aware Sensing

In the previous experiments, we used threshold based sensing in which the expected utility  $e_{ij}$  must be greater than a predefined threshold to start the sensing module. In this set of experiments we show time trace compare threshold based and energy aware sensing schemes using the previously discussed data delivery schemes. As explained in Section 4.1.2, energy aware scheme adapts sensing threshold according to fraction of sensor remaining energy as in equation 4.1. We consider average utility received by each mission, and percentage of alive sensor nodes during network life time as our metrics. We used 200 nodes, each configured with 10 Joules as battery capacity that will be used for both sensing and communication tasks. Sensors move according to RWP mobility model. Thirty mission are uniformly distributed within the network field. Network life time set to 1800 seconds but sensor start sensing after 20 seconds to allow the steady state. Sensors initially configured with two different sensing thresholds,  $\tau=0.50$  (50%).

In Figure 5.8, sensors directly send sensory data through a GPRS connection.



Figure 5.8: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, GPRS connection



Figure 5.9: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mission's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, GPRS connection.

As we can see, with threshold based sensing scheme, the average number of alive network nodes decrease drastically. This happen because sensors only consider utility and not the remaining energy which draws its battery. This becomes clear when we decrease utility requirement by using a smaller thresholds as in Figure 5.8b. When sensor has no more energy it can not sense or send any data which is reflected on the utility received by missions as more nodes die as in Figure 5.8a. In Figure 5.8b, all nodes die by the end of simulation time and the average utility level reaches zero since there are no more alive sensors to serve the missions. However, with energy aware scheme, sensors take energy levels into account before contributing to a mission (i.e. sense mission). From Figure 5.8, in energy aware sensing, sensors start similar to the threshold based sensing scheme. However, when more energy is consumed, sensors become more conservative by increasing its sensing threshold (see Equation 4.1). Therefore, only missions with high utility expectations are sensed. This strategy reduces energy spent on less useful missions when battery level are low which extends network lifetime even when small thresholds are used as in Figures 5.8a, 5.8b. Figure 5.9 shows average of utility received by each mission through the whole network lifetime. It is clear that energy-aware performs better than threshold based sensing when low threshold is used. Threshold based, on the other hand, does well with high threshold,  $(\tau=50\%, \text{ almost similar to energy aware})$ .

In Figures 5.10 and 5.11, we only use Wi-Fi communication module for sending data with 9 base-stations. We used this number of base-stations to provide full connectivity. We can see in Figure 5.10a that with high threshold ( $\tau$ =50%), sensor doing better than when energy aware is used. This happen because nodes are configured with more than enough energy. However, the energy-aware scheme tries to save energy which caused little degradation in received utility. When small threshold is used ( $\tau$ =25%), we see a degradation in received utility for the threshold-based scheme after 1600 seconds of simulation time and almost 50% of sensors are dead. This clearly appears in Figure 5.11 where threshold based sensing outperforms energy aware in average utility received by each mission during the network lifetime. However, energy aware saves nodes energy than when only threshold sensing scheme is used ( all nodes still alive when  $\tau$ =25% is used and only about 50% for the threshold-based by the end of simulation time).

In Figures 5.12 and 5.13, sensor uses both communication modules (Wi-Fi



Figure 5.10: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, 9 Base-stations



Figure 5.11: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mission's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, 9 Base-stations.

and GPRS) interchangeably for data packets transmition. The addition of Wi-Fi module (hybrid approach) improved usage of node battery. By the end of simulation time, percentage of remaining alive nodes in the hybrid approach was about 30% as in Figure 5.12a. However, when only GPRS connection is used, alive nodes was almost 13% as in Figure 5.8a.

In Figure 5.12, at the beginning, threshold based scheme performs better than energy aware since it has no consideration to energy levels. Therefore, number of alive node decrease drastically because energy is drawn quickly as in Figures 5.12a and 5.12a. On the other hand, the energy aware scheme depends on spending energy only for valuable missions by increasing its sensing threshold. This strategy helps in extending network lifetime and at the end of the simulation, as almost 95% of nodes still alive as in Figure 5.12b. This is reflected on the average utility



Figure 5.12: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, Hybrid (Wi-Fi and GPRS connection)



Figure 5.13: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mission's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, Hybrid (Wi-Fi and GPRS connection).

received by mission through the network life time as in Figure 5.13. Although energy aware saves more energy, its performance was little bit less than when high sensing thresholds is used (50%). When small threshold is used (25%), energy aware performs better since it spends energy only for higher utility missions.

In Figures 5.14 and 5.15, sensors form an ad-hoc network between them to forward data using GPSR routing protocol to base-station. Unlike previous experiments, both threshold and energy aware perform badly. In the previous experiments, energy is only consumed to sense missions and send generated measurements to base-station. GPSR protocol works in a proactive fashion where every sensor send a periodic beacon to its one-hop neighbors. This consumes more energy since sensors send and receives others beacons. Although that energy aware


Figure 5.14: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, GPSR routing protocol



Figure 5.15: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mission's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, GPSR routing protocol.

when  $\tau = 0.25$  performs better than the non-energy aware schemes, we can say that there is no real control on energy leakage by the sensing scheme.

Figures 5.16 and 5.17 shows performance of AOMDV using both threshold and energy aware sensing schemes. AOMDV performs worse than GPSR routing protocol. Because AOMDV broadcast many route request packets in the discovery process, energy is consumed faster than in GPSR even when high threshold is used. This is also because AOMDV starts sending HELLO messages (every 1.5 second) for link failure detection after the route discovery process starts. This is reflected on average utility received by each mission. Although energy aware tries to save battery by reducing the number of times it sense missions, energy leaked due to the routing protocol's behavior downgrade network performance quickly and more nodes die faster than with GPSR as we can see in Figure 5.17.



Figure 5.16: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Time trace for 30 Missions and 200 nodes, AOMDV routing protocol



Figure 5.17: Energy-Aware vs Threshold-Based Sensing schemes. Average Mission's utility with 30 Missions and 200 nodes, AOMDV routing protocol.

In next chapter we go into further details for using GPSR and AOMDV routing protocols on top of MWSNs.

#### 5.2.6 Discussion

In general, we can say that energy aware scheme works similarly to threshold based sensing when the fraction of remaining energy is high. However, when energy decreases it reacts by increasing sensing thresholds. Even this extend network lifetime, however, it may affects utility received by missions due to sensors become more selective to sense missions with high utility expectation.

Most of existing routing protocol in wireless sensor networks designed for statically deployed sensors. Instead, we used two MANET routing protocols, GPSR and AOMDV. GPSR performs better than AOMDV due to its advantage of using geographic information which cuts the need for expensive route discovery process. However, the proactive nature used by both protocols affects their performance due to energy limitation.

## CHAPTER 6

# EVALUATION OF GPSR AND AOMDV ROUTING PROTOCOLS FOR MWSNS

In Chapter 5, we used GPSR and AOMDV routing protocols to deliver data packets to base-station node through an ad-hoc network formed between sensors. In this chapter we go further by testing performance of both protocols for MWSNs using different set of experiments.

## 6.1 Simulation Setup

We used similar settings as used in Section 5.1. All missions are modeled as event detection missions such as chemical leakage or fire detection for alarm monitoring systems. We used 30 missions uniformly distributed within (400 X 400) square

meters field. We assume that sensor is *Naiive* in which it has no consideration of expected utility contribution and senses every mission within its range even if  $e_{ij}$  is too small. Mobile sensors move according to Random Way Point (RWP) [38] model as in Table 5.1. We run set of experiments for evaluating GPSR and AOMDV routing protocols. We used a 1.5 seconds interval for both GPSR 's beacons and AOMDV 's HELLO messages. Obtained results are taken based on network lifetime of 1800 seconds and averaged over 20 runs.

## 6.2 Results and Discussion

In the following experiments runs, we vary node density from 10 to 200. We place the base-station at different locations in the field (corner and center). We evaluate the routing protocol (both GPSR and AOMDV) performance according to five different metrics, packet delivery ratio, utility received by each mission, routing protocol overhead, hop count and the node energy consumption.

#### 6.2.1 Packet Delivery Ratio

Figure 6.1 shows the percentage of successfully delivered data packets to the basestation. We can see that both routing protocol performs similarly when low density is used (only 10 nodes) because the network is disconnected most of the time. However, when more nodes are used both protocols perform better since the probability of finding a path or next hop toward destination increases (higher network diameter). GPSR performs better than AOMDV routing protocol be-



(a) Base-station is positioned at the corner of the field.



(b) Base-station is positioned at the center of the field.

Figure 6.1: Packet Delivery Ratio

cause AOMDV consumes a lot of time and network bandwidth in finding a path towards the destination by broadcasting request messages. In GPSR, nodes know their locations, their neighbors' locations and the location of the destination which helps in finding the shortest path to destination. Also, GPSR works in a proactive fashion in which each node has a list of its current neighbors before any traffic starts.

Location of base-station, as expected, plays a major role in data delivery. When the base-station is positioned at the corner of the field (worst case), both protocols perform badly when low node density is used (only about 1% of generated data packets are delivered, as can be seen in Figure 6.1a). The farther the base-station is located, the possibility that packets are dropped by intermediate nodes increases because there is no valid path to destination. This is especially true when low density is used. GPSR performs better than AOMDV when more nodes are deployed. GPSR has the advantage of leveraging the higher node density because the source node uses geographic information to find the shortest path possible to the destination node. When the base-station is positioned at the center, almost all packets are delivered when more than 100 nodes are deployed, ( see Figure 6.1b). We notice that AOMDV is saturated when network density is increased in which only about 20-30% of all sent packets are delivered in worst case, i.e. when base-station at corner, (see Figure 6.1a), and almost 60% of sent packets are delivered in the best case when base-station is at the center of the field (Figure 6.1b).



Figure 6.2: Packet Loss Ratio, base-station is positioned at the corner of the field.

Figures 6.2 and 6.3 show the ratio of lost data packets and the effect of both Routing and MAC layers failure on the packet loss ratio (PLR). We show this for both cases in which base-station is positioned at corner and center of the field respectively. Both Routing and MAC failure are ratios to the number of lost packets which reveals the responsibility of each layer which caused packets to be dropped.

MAC failure happens when packets are dropped because the MAC layer could not send a packet to the next hop either because it has already left the communication range or because of collision. Routing failure happens when the source or the forwarding node could not find a valid route towards the destination (sometimes packets are dropped due to loop in the path). We can notice that most of the packets are dropped due to route failure when low network density is used. This becomes clear when the base-station is positioned at the corner of the field. In this case, the base-station and network nodes are disconnected most of the time.



Figure 6.3: Packet Loss Ratio, base-station is positioned at the center of the field.

In AOMDV, we can see that most of the packets are dropped because of Mac failure. This happens because of packets collision especially when node density is increased (more than 50 nodes) due to the high number of sent routing control packets during the route discovery and maintenance process, (see Figures 6.3a and 6.2a). In GPSR, effect of Mac failure is limited since GPSR sends only one-hop beacons which is not the case in AOMDV (i.e. AOMDV broadcast a route request message network wide to find destination). Also, GPSR uses sent data packets as implicit beacons which decreases the number of sent beacons. Although the data packet loss ratio decreases as more nodes deployed (few packets is dropped), most of the dropped packets in GPSR are due to routing protocol failure which is acceptable since GPSR depends on sent beacons to make routing decision, (see Figures 6.2b and 6.3b).



(a) Base-station is positioned at the corner of the field.



(b) Base-station is positioned at the center of the field.Figure 6.4: Average Mission's Utility, 30 missions.

#### 6.2.2 Mission's Received Utility

Each network mission receives utility based on measurements taken by network mobile sensors. We used this metric to see effect of the underlying data delivery (routing protocol) mechanism on application performance. We also run same experiments in which sensor sends data packets directly using GPRS connection (we call it 3G in figures) as used in [22],[3],[25]. Figure 6.4 shows the average utility received by each mission during the whole network life time (we calculate the utility as described in Chapter 5). As expected, higher node density improves application performance (event detection probability) since more missions are covered when more sensors are deployed (specially when 3G connection is used). The effect of packet delivery ratio (see Figure 6.1 and Figure 6.4) is reflected on the application performance. GPSR outperforms AOMDV when higher node density is used due to its high packet delivery ratio especially when the base-station is positioned at the field center (Figure 6.1b). When base-station at the field center, GPSR behaves similar to 3G connection when more than 50 sensors are used (see Figure 6.4b). We can also see that the performance of AOMDV is not bad even when it delivers only 62% of the generated measurements (Figure 6.1b). This is because not all measurements contain high quality information as we assume that sensors are *Naiive*, and sometimes these measurements are for the same mission.





(b) Base-station is positioned at the center of the field.

Figure 6.5: Routing protocol overhead. All routing packets sent network wide.

#### 6.2.3 Routing Overhead

Figure 6.5 shows the routing protocol overhead defined as all sent routing packets during the whole network life time which is 1800 seconds. Routing overhead include routing packets initially sent by source node, forwarded packets, and all routing control messages sent by each node (beacon, request, reply, error, and hello messages). As expected, AOMDV produces much high overhead compared to GPSR in the route discovery process (request, reply, and error messages). Also, AOMDV uses HELLO messages for broken link detection which increases the protocol overhead. GPSR, on the other hand, uses only location information for packet forwarding and it does not need any route discovery. Also, GPSR allows the routing protocol to exploit sent packets as implicit beacons which reduces the need to send more beacons. Position of the base-station affects the performance of both routing protocols. When the base-station is at the corner of the field, both protocols need to send more packets for data delivery. AOMDV is drastically affected by location of base-station since all sensors want to send packets to basestation which initialize a route discovery process by all network nodes (due to the all to one nature of traffic in MWSNs). We can see that effect when node density is increased (see Figure 6.5a). When the base-station is at the center of the field, distance between source and destination is smaller and paths are formed faster and with less overhead (see Figure 6.5b). Although that GPSR does not need route discovery, packets need to follow a longer paths when base-station is at the corner than when it was positioned at the center which increases the overhead

produced by the routing protocol.

#### 6.2.4 Hop Count

Figure 6.6 shows average hop count that received packets traverse before they reach the base-station. We only consider number of hops between source node and destination as it reflects the path length and the ability of the routing protocol to find and use the shortest path. As expected, the farther the base-station was positioned, the longer the path packets follow before they are successfully delivered (see Figure 6.6a and Figure 6.6b). In GPSR, we can see that packets, when node density is low (10 nodes), follow a longer path than AOMDV. This is because when greedy forwarding fails, GPSR tries to forward the packets around void areas using perimeter mode. This means that packets traverse along more nodes with the hope to find destination. However, when more nodes are deployed, network diameter increases and GPSR choose to forward packets to the closest hop to destination (more neighbors to choose from). This is reflected on the path length used by GPSR as it becomes shorter than AOMDV 's which uses existing route unless it fails, then it tries to use an alternative one.

#### 6.2.5 Energy Consumption

Figure 6.7 shows the average energy consumed by each sensor during the whole network life time. Sensors consume energy for both sensing and communication as specified in Table 3.1. Since nodes behave similarly in the sensing operation,





(b) Base-station is positioned at the center of the field.

Figure 6.6: Average hop count traversed by packet before it reaches destination.



(a) Base-station is positioned at the corner of the field.



(b) Base-station is positioned at the center of the field.

Figure 6.7: Average node energy consumption during whole network life time.

difference in energy consumption is due to the energy spent on communication. We can see that AOMDV consumes more energy than GPSR. This is due to the high routing overhead during route discovery process within AOMDV protocol (see Figure 6.5). In addition to route discovery, AOMDV uses periodic HELLO messages for link failure detection. This becomes clear when number of nodes is increased in case each node initiates its own route discovery process (since all nodes in MWSNs are source of traffic). GPSR consumes more energy than AOMDV when only 10 nodes are used. This due the nature of the GPSR protocol as when greedy forwarding fails, GPSR tries to forward packets along perimeter until packet is received or dropped with no destination found. As we discussed before, the position of base-station plays a major role in data delivery and protocol overhead and so on consumed energy by each node. Source node in AOMDV needs to search longer for the destination when base-station is positioned at field corner. Also, the path toward destination becomes longer (see Figure 6.6) which all is reflected on energy consumed by each node. In GPSR, packets traverse a longer path when base-station is position at field corner which increases energy consumed due to the routing role that each node plays.

#### 6.2.6 Discussion

In this chapter we evaluated performance of two different MANET routing protocols, GPSR and AOMDV, to be used in mobile wireless sensor network. AOMDV is not well suited to work in MWSNs. Even with its ability to handle link breakage caused by node mobility (e.g. using multiple path routing), the nature of the traffic in MWSNs (all to one) produces a high routing overhead due to the route discovery process. This results in high energy consumption by limited energy nodes. GPSR performs well especially when network diameter is large enough (enough neighbors to each node). However, its dependency on geographic information propagation may needs consideration especially when used in critical applications (e.g military missions).

In general GPSR performs better that AOMDV due to its advantage of using geographic information that eliminate its needs for route discovery process used by AOMDV.

# CHAPTER 7

# CONCLUSION

In this chapter we conclude thesis by summarizing work done in previous chapters and investigate further work can be done in future.

# 7.1 Summary

In this thesis, many of existing mobile sensing systems is reviewed. Most of these systems target air quality monitoring applications as it is the case of OpenSense system. Most of them used direct data delivery mechanisms through existing mobile networks (e.g. 3G or GPRS data service) and few of them used opportunistic Wi-Fi connectivity for data delivery. We evaluated performance of a mobile wireless sensor network considering different data delivery scheme as used by previously reviewed systems. We also tested hybrid approach that use both exiting cellular network and available Wi-Fi coverage. We also used two MANET routing protocols, GPSR and AOMDV, for data delivery using an ad-hoc network formed between mobile sensors. We used two different sensing schemes, a threshold-based and energy-aware.

We found that MWSN performance is affected by the data delivery mechanism been used. Cellular (GPRS) and Hybrid (GPRS and Wi-Fi) approach performs similarly and outperform other data delivery mechanisms and the addition of Wi-Fi in the Hybrid approach improved energy consumption. Both AOMDV and GPSR perform badly in low network density. GPSR, however, outperforms AOMDV in medium and high density MWSNs due to its advantage of using geographic information for packets routing which cuts the need for the expensive route discovery process used by AOMDV. The energy-aware scheme helps in extending network lifetime with a little degradation in system performance because sensors become more conservative when their energy starts to deplete.

# 7.2 Future Work

Many issues need more investigation in addition to what we done in this thesis as in followings:

- We used two different mobility models, RWP and RPGM. In literature, there are many mobility models exist [38]. Performance of these models in location based sensing application need more investigation. We specifically interested in Manhattan mobility model, since it is more realistic in any vehicular mobile sensing system my take place in urban areas.
- We used GPSR and AOMDV routing protocols in an ad-hoc network formed by mobile sensor. GPSR performs well, but AOMDV has a high energy

consumption caused by its route discovery process which not suit MWSNs. Performance of mobile wireless sensor network need to be more investigated using another routing protocols or any other energy aware protocols.

• In this thesis, we focused only in energy consumed by sensing and communication units. Further investigation need to be done in energy consumed by localization since we used a location based application.

# REFERENCES

- [1] P. Dutta, P. M. Aoki, N. Kumar, A. Mainwaring, C. Myers, W. Willett, and A. Woodruff, "Demo Abstract : Common Sense - Participatory Urban Sensing using a Network of Handheld Air Quality Monitors," in *SenSys '09 Proceedings of the 7th ACM Conference on Embedded Networked Sensor Systems*, New York, NY, USA, 2009, pp. 349–350.
- [2] OpenSense, "Opensense system, zurich city," 21 October 2014. [Online].
   Available: http://www.opensense.ethz.ch/trac/
- [3] S. Devarakonda, P. Sevusu, H. Liu, R. Liu, L. Iftode, and B. Nath, "Realtime air quality monitoring through mobile sensing in metropolitan areas," in *Proceedings of the 2nd ACM SIGKDD International Workshop on Urban Computing.* ACM, 2013, p. 15.
- [4] Libelium, "Libelium waspmote," 21 October 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.libelium.com/development/waspmote
- [5] A. Samjani, "General packet radio service [gprs]," *Potentials, IEEE*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 12–15, 2002.

- [6] G. L. Re, D. Peri, and S. D. Vassallo, "Urban air quality monitoring using vehicular sensor networks," in Advances onto the Internet of Things. Springer, 2014, pp. 311–323.
- [7] B. Karp and H.-T. Kung, "Gpsr: Greedy perimeter stateless routing for wireless networks," in *Proceedings of the 6th annual international conference* on Mobile computing and networking. ACM, 2000, pp. 243–254.
- [8] S. H. Lee, S. Lee, H. Song, and H. S. Lee, "Wireless sensor network design for tactical military applications: remote large-scale environments," in *Military Communications Conference, 2009. MILCOM 2009. IEEE.* IEEE, 2009, pp. 1–7.
- [9] V. C. Gungor and G. P. Hancke, "Industrial wireless sensor networks: Challenges, design principles, and technical approaches," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 56, no. 10, pp. 4258–4265, 2009.
- [10] P. Juang, H. Oki, Y. Wang, M. Martonosi, L. S. Peh, and D. Rubenstein, "Energy-efficient computing for wildlife tracking: Design tradeoffs and early experiences with zebranet," in *ACM Sigplan Notices*, vol. 37, no. 10. ACM, 2002, pp. 96–107.
- [11] A. Mainwaring, D. Culler, J. Polastre, R. Szewczyk, and J. Anderson, "Wireless sensor networks for habitat monitoring," in *Proceedings of the 1st ACM international workshop on Wireless sensor networks and applications*. ACM, 2002, pp. 88–97.

- [12] I. F. Akyildiz, W. Su, Y. Sankarasubramaniam, and E. Cayirci, "Wireless sensor networks: a survey," *Computer networks*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 393–422, 2002.
- [13] Y. J. Jung, Y. K. Lee, D. G. Lee, K. H. Ryu, and S. Nittel, "Air pollution monitoring system based on geosensor network," in *Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, 2008. IGARSS 2008. IEEE International*, vol. 3. IEEE, 2008, pp. III–1370.
- [14] T. He, S. Krishnamurthy, J. A. Stankovic, T. Abdelzaher, L. Luo, R. Stoleru, T. Yan, L. Gu, J. Hui, and B. Krogh, "Energy-efficient surveillance system using wireless sensor networks," in *Proceedings of the 2nd international conference on Mobile systems, applications, and services.* ACM, 2004, pp. 270– 283.
- [15] N. Vlajic and D. Stevanovic, "Sink mobility in wireless sensor networks: When theory meets reality," in *Sarnoff Symposium*, 2009. SARNOFF'09.
   *IEEE*. IEEE, 2009, pp. 1–8.
- [16] K. Akkaya, M. Younis, and M. Bangad, "Sink repositioning for enhanced performance in wireless sensor networks," *Computer Networks*, vol. 49, no. 4, pp. 512–534, 2005.
- [17] R. C. Shah, S. Roy, S. Jain, and W. Brunette, "Data mules: Modeling and analysis of a three-tier architecture for sparse sensor networks," Ad Hoc Networks, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 215–233, 2003.

- [18] B. Liu, P. Brass, O. Dousse, P. Nain, and D. Towsley, "Mobility improves coverage of sensor networks," in *Proceedings of the 6th ACM international* symposium on Mobile ad hoc networking and computing. ACM, 2005, pp. 300–308.
- [19] K. Dantu, M. Rahimi, H. Shah, S. Babel, A. Dhariwal, and G. S. Sukhatme,
  "Robomote: enabling mobility in sensor networks," in *Proceedings of the* 4th international symposium on Information processing in sensor networks.
  IEEE Press, 2005, p. 55.
- [20] G. Song, Y. Zhou, F. Ding, and A. Song, "A mobile sensor network system for monitoring of unfriendly environments," *Sensors*, vol. 8, no. 11, pp. 7259– 7274, 2008.
- [21] D. Hasenfratz, O. Saukh, S. Sturzenegger, and L. Thiele, "Participatory air pollution monitoring using smartphones," *Mobile Sensing*, 2012.
- [22] J. J. Li, B. Faltings, O. Saukh, D. Hasenfratz, and J. Beutel, "Sensing the air we breathe-the opensense zurich dataset." in AAAI, 2012.
- [23] S. Dashti, J. Reilly, J. D. Bray, A. Bayen, S. Glaser, E. Mari, and P. J. D. Bray, "ishake: Using personal devices to deliver rapid semi-qualitative earthquake shaking information," *GeoEngineering Report*, 2011.
- [24] J. Rezazadeh, "Mobile wireless ensor networks overview," International Journal of Computer Communications and Networks (IJCCN), vol. 2, no. 1, 2012.

- [25] A. Al-Ali, I. Zualkernan, and F. Aloul, "A mobile gprs-sensors array for air pollution monitoring," *Sensors Journal, IEEE*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 1666–1671, 2010.
- [26] J. A. Burke, D. Estrin, M. Hansen, A. Parker, N. Ramanathan, S. Reddy, and M. B. Srivastava, "Participatory sensing," *Center for Embedded Network Sensing*, 2006.
- [27] R. K. Rana, C. T. Chou, S. S. Kanhere, N. Bulusu, and W. Hu, "Ear-phone: an end-to-end participatory urban noise mapping system," in *Proceedings of* the 9th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Information Processing in Sensor Networks. ACM, 2010, pp. 105–116.
- [28] N. Maisonneuve, M. Stevens, M. E. Niessen, and L. Steels, "Noisetube: Measuring and mapping noise pollution with mobile phones," in *Information Technologies in Environmental Engineering*. Springer, 2009, pp. 215–228.
- [29] R. Honicky, E. A. Brewer, E. Paulos, and R. White, "N-smarts: networked suite of mobile atmospheric real-time sensors," in *Proceedings of the second* ACM SIGCOMM workshop on Networked systems for developing regions. ACM, 2008, pp. 25–30.
- [30] V. Sivaraman, J. Carrapetta, K. Hu, and B. G. Luxan, "Hazewatch: A participatory sensor system for monitoring air pollution in sydney," in *Local Computer Networks Workshops (LCN Workshops), 2013 IEEE 38th Conference on.* IEEE, 2013, pp. 56–64.

- [31] Samsung S4, 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.samsung.com/global/ microsite/galaxys4/
- [32] K. Aberer, S. Sathe, D. Chakraborty, A. Martinoli, G. Barrenetxea, B. Faltings, and L. Thiele, "Opensense: open community driven sensing of environment," in *Proceedings of the ACM SIGSPATIAL International Workshop on GeoStreaming.* ACM, 2010, pp. 39–42.
- [33] B. Predic, Z. Yan, J. Eberle, D. Stojanovic, and K. Aberer, "Exposuresense: Integrating daily activities with air quality using mobile participatory sensing," in *Pervasive Computing and Communications Workshops (PERCOM* Workshops), 2013 IEEE International Conference on. IEEE, 2013, pp. 303– 305.
- [34] B. Hull, V. Bychkovsky, Y. Zhang, K. Chen, M. Goraczko, A. Miu, E. Shih,
  H. Balakrishnan, and S. Madden, "Cartel: a distributed mobile sensor computing system," in *Proceedings of the 4th international conference on Embed*ded networked sensor systems. ACM, 2006, pp. 125–138.
- [35] P. Völgyesi, A. Nádas, X. Koutsoukos, and A. Lédeczi, "Air quality monitoring with sensormap," in *Proceedings of the 7th international conference on Information processing in sensor networks*. IEEE Computer Society, 2008, pp. 529–530.
- [36] H. Rowaihy, M. Johnson, A. Bar-Noy, T. Brown, and T. La Porta, "Assigning sensors to competing missions," in *Global Telecommunications Conference*,

2008. IEEE GLOBECOM 2008. IEEE. IEEE, 2008, pp. 1–6.

- [37] Libelium, "Waspmote gases board technical guide." 21 October 2014.
   [Online]. Available: http://www.libelium.com/development/waspmote/ documentation/gases-board-technical-guide/
- [38] T. Camp, J. Boleng, and V. Davies, "A survey of mobility models for ad hoc network research," Wireless communications and mobile computing, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 483–502, 2002.
- [39] X. Hong, M. Gerla, G. Pei, and C.-C. Chiang, "A group mobility model for ad hoc wireless networks," in *Proceedings of the 2nd ACM international work*shop on Modeling, analysis and simulation of wireless and mobile systems. ACM, 1999, pp. 53–60.
- [40] ETSI, "General packet radio service, gprs." 21 October 2014. [Online].
   Available: http://www.etsi.org/technologies-clusters/technologies/mobile/ gprs
- [41] Libelium, "Waspmote data frame guide," 21 October 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.libelium.com/development/waspmote/documentation/ data-frame-guide/
- [42] SIM5218, 21 October 2014. [Online]. Available: http://wm.sim.com/ producten.aspx?id=1026

- [43] Libelium, "Waspmote 3g + gps networking guide." 21 October 2014.
  [Online]. Available: http://www.libelium.com/development/waspmote/ documentation/3g-gps-networking-guide/
- [44] K. Akkaya and M. Younis, "A survey on routing protocols for wireless sensor networks," Ad hoc networks, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 325–349, 2005.
- [45] M. Bansal, R. Rajput, and G. Gupta, "Mobile ad hoc networking (manet): Routing protocol performance issues and evaluation considerations," *The Internet Society*, 1999.
- [46] M. K. Marina and S. R. Das, "Ad hoc on-demand multipath distance vector routing," Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing, vol. 6, no. 7, pp. 969–988, 2006.
- [47] C. E. Perkins and E. M. Royer, "Ad-hoc on-demand distance vector routing," in Mobile Computing Systems and Applications, 1999. Proceedings. WMCSA'99. Second IEEE Workshop on. IEEE, 1999, pp. 90–100.
- [48] M. N. Jambli, K. Zen, H. Lenando, and A. Tully, "Performance evaluation of aodv routing protocol for mobile wireless sensor network," in *Information Technology in Asia (CITA 11), 2011 7th International Conference on*. IEEE, 2011, pp. 1–6.
- [49] NS2, "Network simulator," 21 October 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.isi.edu/nsnam/ns/

- [50] BonnMotion, "Mobility scenario generation tool," 21 October 2014. [Online].Available: http://sys.cs.uos.de/bonnmotion/
- [51] H. Rowaihy, "Resource management issues in wireless sensor networks," Ph.D. dissertation, The Pennsylvania State University, 2009.
- [52] H. Rowaihy, M. P. Johnson, D. Pizzocaro, A. Bar-Noy, L. Kaplan, T. La Porta, and A. Preece, "Detection and localization sensor assignment with exact and fuzzy locations," in *Distributed Computing in Sensor Systems*. Springer, 2009, pp. 28–43.
- [53] Libelium, "Waspmote wifi networking guide." 21 October 2014.
   [Online]. Available: http://www.libelium.com/development/waspmote/ documentation/wifi-networking-guide/

# Vitae

- Name: Ahmed Saeed Ahmed BinSahaq
- Nationality: Yemeni
- Date of Birth: 1986, 11 June
- Email: *ishaq1900@gmail.com*
- Permenant Address: Al-Qaten, Hadhramaut, Yemen
- Telephone : 00966533899293
- Educational Qualification:

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE, COMPUTER NETWORKS

April, 2015

King Fahd University of petroleum & Minerals

Dhahran, Saudi Arabia

#### BACHELOR OF EDUCATION IN COMPUTER INFORMA-

#### TION SYSTEMS

June, 2006

Yarmouk University

Irbid, Jordan